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Established in 2001, IBN Corporation is 
Trustee of the IBN Charitable Foundation. 
We deliver programs and services to 
improve the lives of our members, the 
Yinhawangka, Banyjima and Nyiyaparli 
people.

The traditional lands of the IBN people are in and 
around the Hamersley Ranges in northern Western 
Australia.

We have offices in South Hedland, Tom Price and 
Karratha and offer our members the most services 
of any Aboriginal Trust in the Pilbara.

Our community reach extends beyond our members 
and families, with IBN’s Community Programs 
reaching thousands of people across the region. Our 
offices also provide assistance every day to many 
other Pilbara Aboriginal people who are not IBN 
members.

Our strong financial record is because our single 
Board is focussed on delivering life-changing social 
programs and development of a Future Fund to 
provide for the IBN Community long after the end 
of mining. IBN is recognised as one of the strongest 
Aboriginal organisations in Western Australia, and 
it’s a status we work hard to maintain.

IBN LEADERSHIP AND 
ACCOUNTABILITY
IBN is a registered Australian company and charity.

THE REPRESENTATIVE 
CORPORATIONS OF IBN
The IBN Corporation structure is set out in the IBN 
Constitution and comprises four Representative 
Corporations (Minadhu, Milyuranpa Banyjima, 
Banyjima and Nyiyaparli) that each hold a share in 
the company on behalf of the Traditional Owners of 
the three language groups. These ‘Rep Corps’ are 
registered Aboriginal Corporations that advise the 
IBN Board on community membership and provide 
feedback on IBN programs and services.

IBN BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The IBN Board manages both the Trust and the 
Corporation’s operations and funds. The Board 
consists of Traditional Owner Directors and 
Independent Directors.

AUDITORS
Stielow & Associates act as Auditors for IBN, providing 
expert and independent analysis of IBN financial 
management and accounts. Stielow & Associates 
also conduct quarterly audits for the IBN Finance and 
Investment Committee and CEO. These audits ensure 
IBN complies with the Corporations Act.

INVESTMENT ADVISORS
Mutual Trustas was appointed in 2011 as the 
investment advisors to IBN. Under instructions from 
the Trustee, Mutual manage IBN investments in 
accordance with IBN’s investment strategy and the 
terms of the Trusts.

ABOUT IBN 

Who We Are

OUR PURPOSE
Supporting the Yinhawangka, 

Banyjima and Nyiyaparli people.

 
OUR GOAL

Building resilience and capacity 
for the present and strong 
foundations for the future.

MUNJINA
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MAY BYRNE
CHAIRPERSON 
Milyurana Banyjima

 
TYSON WEEDON 
Minadhu

LACHLAN HAUGHEY 
Independent

JAHNA CEDAR
DEPUTY CHAIR  
Nyiyaparli 

 
JULIE WALKER 
Minadhu

MARIANNE ROSE
Independent

BRANDY WHEELOCK
Nyiyaparli 

PHIL DHU 
Banyjima

ABOUT IBN 

Our Board
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Thanharru

I am pleased to present the IBN 2019/2020 
Annual Report.

Firstly, I would like to talk about the many changes 
what this great gardarrra (sickness) covid-19 has 
imposed on us and the wider community and world. 
Our premier Mark McGowan was strong in his approach 
to blocking the WA Borders to keep us all safe. We 
have all had to change the way we do business and 
conduct our lives. Many of our meetings have been via 
zoom. Due to the gardarra this will be our first virtual 
AGM meeting. 

The Appointing Committee elected 2 new Independent 
Directors to the Board Directors: Lachlan Haughey 
and Director Marianne Rose. They joined us at the 
beginning of 2020. We welcome them and welcome 
their support for IBN.

We also have a new Nyiyaparli Traditional Owner 
Director Christina Stone. Welcome and congratulations 
to Christina.

I would like to pass on our thanks to our Traditional 
Owner Directors: Nyiyaparli Jahna Cedar and 
Yinhawangka Julie Walker. Both brought many 
skillsets to IBN though have resigned to focus on other 
achievements and opportunities. Also, a thank you to 
Independent Directors Alan Scott (Scotty) and Tom 
Stephens for their commitment. 

Thank you to Aunty Lorraine Injie who worked tirelessly 
for IBN for over 10 years. During her time as Chair and 
CEO she made significant changes for the IBN people 
by introducing a cultural unit, employing a linguist at 
IBN and pushing for the Elders Council to be reformed 
to provide guidance to the IBN Board.

Ministerial decisions (covid-19) cancelled the Karijini 
Experience where the elders have a yarning place 
called yurlu (home) lounge.

Elders like speaking to the younger generation and 
to the wider community the tourist come in and enjoy 
listening to the elders speak.

It is important to tell our stories IBN is the only 
Aboriginal Trust that has a linguist. From the benefits 
of our land, our elders can tell their own stories not 
through Native Title lawyers or Anthropologists. It is 
important that elders speak their wongka for their 
families and their language group.

I would like to congratulate elder uncle Yandaguji 
doing the 50 word project. You can hear him speaking 
in language on the internet. 

Many of our old people have told their stories in books. 
They are no longer with us but their legacy will live on 
in their wongka video/books.

IBN is in the next phase of our strategic planning. 
The IBN Board have met with the Representative 
Corporations and will consult with the wider 
community over the next few months.

Be safe take extra care, 
May Byrne

R E P O R T 

Chairperson

“ ...We have all had 
to change the way 
we do business and 
conduct our lives.

MULL A M ULL A

R E P O R T 

Chairperson
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IBN GROUP’S MISSION 

Bring  
down 

operating 
costs

  

 

increase 
member 
benefits

As I reflect on the past 12 months, the 
financial year 2020 has certainly been 
an extremely challenging one for the 
IBN organisation, the members and 
many people throughout the world. 
Conversely, it has also provided an 
opportunity to review the organisation, 
as we successfully executed a number of 
important strategic developments which 
will provide growth and opportunity for 
IBN into the future.
During this time, there has been significant changes 
to the focus of IBN and what the Corporation stands 
for. This has resulted in a refreshed focus within the 
organisation to take care of the three pillars which 
IBN relies upon, being the members, representative 
corporations and financial management. We have 
ended the year with a vision and purpose that created 
a difficult but much needed organisational review. 
This ultimately positioned us well for something we 
could not have anticipated, and enabled the focus, 
agility, resilience and care required to respond to the 
extraordinary events brought about by COVID-19.

The vision comes down simply that IBN manages the 
money, to support the organisations for the benefit of all 
IBN members. That is the core of what we are trying to 
achieve as an organisation.

This has certainly been a year where we have been 
able to demonstrate our commitment to members 
and I am extremely proud of the way in which IBN Staff 
have responded to the challenges and supported 
the members through this period. The health and 
wellbeing of the staff is an integral part of our business 
and, as a result, we took appropriate measures in line 
with official COVID-19 guidelines with the vast majority 
moved to remote working from mid-March. For the 
small number of employees who continued to work 
from our offices across the Pilbara, we implemented the 
necessary social distancing and provided on-site health 
amenities amongst other initiatives. With wellbeing 
as a key priority, we focused on strong and regular 
communication, so our employees felt connected with 
the decisions we needed to make. Our recent employee 
survey results showed most of our people felt positive 
about working at IBN. Our ability to adapt to remote 
working, while at the same time, continuing to deliver to 
our members, was a positive experience overall in FY20. 
As we move into FY21, we continue to monitor official 
advice and adapt our business plans as needed.

The members have always been at the centre of 
our thinking and our teams have been dedicated 
to supporting them with much needed information, 
guidance and advice at all times. We are equally proud 
of our work in the area of COVID relief payments in 
ensuring emergency funds were made available for 
critical support for members as quickly as possible.

Despite the challenges, we have continued to 
execute on our strategy and while we have needed 
to change our focus in some areas, in other areas we 
have been able to speed up delivery of key projects, 
including investments in key technology and process 
improvements which have increased efficiency and 
enabled improved services across many areas of 
our business. Key to the progress achieved was the 
revitalisation of our Executive team and Board. IBN now 
operates with a strong executive team consisting of 
Caroline Lee (Member Services), David Dhu (Corporate 
Services), Chirantha Perera (Finance), Evelyn Kroczek 
(IBN Services) and Kara Hawke (IMMS) with each 
manager responsible for a professional service in their 
area, which will be measured against set targets.

Our new operating model is now in place, bringing us 
closer to our members and supporting operational 
excellence. It allows us to be more innovative and 
delivers streamlined governance and decision-making 
processes. We anticipate these changes to deliver 
annualised cost savings of around $1.5 million, whilst 
providing us with a more internal capacity for future 
growth.

Whilst our financial result for the year has not met our 
expectations, we are proud of our overall progress 
against the strategic goals we set, particularly given 
the challenging external environment, and we remain 
confident that our continued execution of our strategy 
will enable us to emerge on the other side in a strong 
position for the members.

IBN remains well capitalised with a strong financial 
position to continue to deliver on our goals and provide 
continuing growth in benefits for the members.

I would like to take this opportunity to acknowledge the 
contribution and hard work of Lorraine Injie, who guided 
IBN through much of this challenging year as the CEO. 
Her leadership and expertise throughout this period 
provided significant benefit and support to IBN.

Since responsibility for direct financial payments to 
traditional owners through the MAC Agreement (MACA) 
moved from IBN to the ‘Approved Trusts’, a substantial 
amount of funds have been paid to the trusts. IBN’s 
original estimate of an end to the rebalancing in 2020 
occurred as predicted with the final payment in FY20.

The rebalancing period is now complete, so IBN 
will recommence receiving our allocation of 
60 percent of production payments from BHP. 
This will provide capacity for increasing future 
investments, expanding services to members, and 
allow IBN to continue to improve our operations.

While FY20 was undoubtedly a challenging year, 
IBN remains a strong and enduring brand focused 
on deep member and staff relationships, which we 
never take for granted. We have responded well to 
the challenges of the last financial year and have 
continued to execute and build out our strategy. 
In doing so, we have laid strong foundations 
for a successful and prosperous future for our 
members.

Thank you for your support.

Lachlan Haughey 
Executive Director

R E P O R T 

Executive Director
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R E P O R T 

Community 
& Member 
Services 
 
The Community & Member Services team 
has worked throughout the year to support 
members and innovate new solutions to 
the problems presented by the pandemic. 
It was extremely challenging for the team to continue 
to service the IBN community at the high levels that 
we hold ourselves, due to the restrictions that were put 
in place. I am extremely proud of the work and effort 
of the team to continue to engage with members and 
provide updates as they came to hand. Importantly we 
were able to provide the community with much needed 
COVID relief funding so that members could prepare 
themselves for the period of lockdown and provide a 
safe environment for their families.

Community consultations around the benefits programs 
and how we can improve the way that benefits are 
applied, were conducted in South Hedland, Karrath 
and Perth throughout February. The consultations were 
well attended and participation by IBN members was 
thoughtful and beneficial to the ongoing development 
of the programs. The many great suggestions, ideas and 
feedback have been taken into account for the CHAT 
policy changes for financial year 2020/2021. Key themes 
from the consultation included:

• More flexibility to empower members to self- manage 
expenses.

• Simplify and reduce the number of programs 
• Streamline the application processing system.
• Introduce annual benefits limits whenever possible.
• Remove all requirements for “income –testing”. 
 

I would like to again recognise the staff for their prompt 
and professional response to the COVID pandemic. 
Actions were quickly put in place during the year 
for the staff to work from home between March and 
May. The personal and family stress that this period 
placed on all of our staff and members cannot be 
underestimated. Thank you also to the membership for 
their understanding and support of the IBN member 
services team through this challenging period.

I would also like to acknowledge the work by staff 
involved with Mirli Maya that had to be closed to non-
essentials visitors in order to appropriately protect the 
elderly members. Systems and processes were put in 
place to allow essentials visitors to call ahead before 
presenting themselves at Mirli Maya as a precaution. 

Along with many different community interactions 
throughout the year, the member support team were 
able to celebrate the following events with members:

• Flu and Meningitis Vaccination Open Day
• NAIDOC at Hedland Senior High School
• Team Building Day Yule Rive
• Mission Australia programs for the Pilbara
• R U OK BBQ
• Pilbara First Nation Women forum
• Mental Health Day
• White Ribbon Day
• World Aids Day
• Reconciliation Week
 
We were also able to participate in numerous significant 
workshops and studies including the following;

• Boost Parent Workshops
• Mission Australia Thrive program
• Mayi Kuwayu Study
• Culture Club
• Austrak Work ready Program in association 

with Bloodwood Tree and North Regional Tafe 
(Pundulmurra)

• Many Rivers Business consulting
 
Thank you to all members and staff for the cooperation 
and understanding over the last twelve months and 
we look forward to helping the members to meet their 
needs over the next twelve months.

IBN is proud to be involved with the Sorted Futures 
Youth Dive Education program. This program promotes 
participation in the classroom and rewards effort and 
attendance with diving experiences.

The students undertake training and deep water diving that 
challenges them and brings out the best in the individuals 
to push through internal barriers and realise their own 
potential.

This program opens up employment pathways for the 
students that complete the course to consider working with 
oil and gas companies that require qualified divers on site.
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R E P O R T 

Corporate Services
Thanharru! The Corporate Services team 
plays an important role between IBN 
and the Representative Corporations. 
This team manages the corporate 
relationships of IBN, as well as the shared 
professional services for the group, 
including the IBN subsidiaries. 
The last 12 months has presented several challenges 
and has resulted in many changes for the Corporate 
Services function, and while these challenges have 
been difficult, they have highlighted the importance 
of a continuous improvement approach to the way 
Corporate Services supports IBN Operations and the 
Representative Corporations to provide service to our 
IBN Community.

We are pleased to confirm that IBN now has over 
1,500 members and this highlights more than ever, 
the importance of sustainable and fair processes 
and policies to support the needs of our growing IBN 
Community.  
In order to improve the membership application 
process, Corporate Services has undertaken to review 
the process to ensure a collaborative approach with 
applicants and with the Representative Corporations 
for a effective and simple process. 

Corporate Services has also completed substantial 
work through the year with IBN holding Joint Boards 
Meetings to bring together the IBN and Rep Corp 
Boards to seek inclusive direction and sharing of 
information for to improve operations.

For the first time in IBN’s history, we have been able to 
facilitate the formation of an Elders Council for input into 
IBN’s Programs and Policies, which is a core focus for 
Corporate Services as we move forward to a new year. The 
input of Elders to IBN will add significant value from both a 
cultural and experienced authority.

Corporate Services will introduce of a dedicated Corporate 
Liaison role at IBN in the coming year, which will become 
an important link between IBN members, Representative 
Corporations and all associated processes.
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Corporate Services 

Thanharru! 
 
The Corporate Services team plays an important role between IBN and the Representative Corporations. This 
team manages the corporate relationships of IBN, as well as the shared professional services for the group, 
including the IBN subsidiaries.  

The last 12 months has presented several challenges and has resulted in many changes for the Corporate 
Services function, and while these challenges have been difficult, they have highlighted the importance of a 
continuous improvement approach to the way Corporate Services supports IBN Operations and the 
Representative Corporations to provide service to our IBN Community. 

We are pleased to confirm that IBN now has over 1,500 members and this highlights more than ever, the 
importance of sustainable and fair processes and policies to support the needs of our growing IBN Community. 

 

 

 

Figure 1 : Annual membership Increase – End of 2019-2020 Financial Year 

 

Figure 2 : End of 2019-2020 Financial Year membership Percentages - By Language Group 
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CULTURAL SUPPORT

The Language, Culture and Heritage (LCH) 
Program has continued to support Elders 
and other members in revitalisation and 
maintenance of their languages, culture, 
and heritage. The threat of COVID-19 
to remote communities was a strong 
reminder of the uniqueness of Aboriginal 
languages and cultures. Thankfully, 
Western Australia’s strong border control 
has kept everyone safe and Elders are 
able to continue their work with IBN. These 
works have included several programs: 

Language Recording -  IBN members have made 
over 140 audio and video recordings of Banyjima, 
Yinhawangka and Nyiyaparli languages, stories, and 
songs with the IBN Language Project.

Life Stories on Paper and in Sound -  Working 
closely with Elders and younger family members to 
record life stories, sound, songs, and stories developed 
into CD or DVD and Booklet for each participant.

Legacy Songs -  IBN conducted extensive work on 
legacy song collections, identifying languages, songs, 
and stories. Some of these activities have revitalised 
language and songs that were not practiced for over 40 
years. Special thanks to Nyiyaparli Elders for their hard 
work identifying and translating Nyiyaparli songs.

Elders Support -  Continuing to support Elders’ 
desires to record and manage their linguistic and 
cultural Knowledge. Elders are our most valuable 
community members, and we are privileged to work 
under their guidance and direction, and we thank all 
Elders for their care and patience during COVID-19 
restrictions and look forward to continuing our work.

Cultural Recording -  Extensive cultural recording 
has been achieved over vast distances of traditional 
Country. IBN thank all contributors for their support. 
Cultural knowledge in songs, country and language is 
irreplaceable. 

50 Words Project - The 50 words project is a public 
website of Aboriginal languages from all around Australia. 
There is the writing and sound for 50 words in each 
Aboriginal language. IBN have supported the Banyjima 
and Nyiyaparli additions to the 50 Words Project.

Workforce Relations -  IBN has a diverse workforce, 
all of which bring an array of skills and experience to IBN 
to provide productive service to the IBN Community. The 
team is aware that we need to review and implement 
practices in which to attract and retain our members 
to work for their Corporation, this remains a core 
focus of IBN. This year, IBN commenced a Leadership 
Development Program for IBN member employees. 
Completion of the program results in the achievement 
of the Diploma of Leadership and Management 
(customised to IBN’s needs) and was offered through 
North Regional TAFE. The aim of the IBN Leadership 
Development Program is to support IBN member staff 
in career development and progression into senior 
positions in IBN. We currently have five employees 
registered and completing the course.

Technology -  Communications, processing of 
applications and management of information are 
imperative methods for quality customer service. 
Corporate Services will work to improve IBN’s platforms 
to allow the IBN Brand to deliver the best possible 
service, particularly in a COVID-19 world. This will 
include a revamp of the IBN website to provide a more 
informative and user-friendly platform for members, 
introducing and maintaining virtual based systems to 
allow more robust communications with members and 
methods to give more flexibility, to source and lodge 
applications to IBN and to seek information through IBN.

Corporate Support -  Corporate Services have 
reviewed several functions this year, highlighting our 
successes and identifying areas in need of improvement.

As a part of the strategic direction moving forward, 
Corporate Services will be rebranded into a Corporate 
Support Team, committed to engagement with our 
Community, our Representative Corporations and our 
Elders. My focus as manager of this team is to improve 
the relationships between these groups, which will 
produce better outcomes for all members.

R E P O R T  C O N T I N U E D . . . 

Corporate Services

“...Elders are our most 
valuable community 
members, and we are 
privileged to work under 
their guidance and 
direction.
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R E P O R T 

Finance Update
The proper use and deployment of the 
financial resources of IBN is a key part of 
the responsibility that the organisation 
owes to the members. 
As one of the largest financial institutions in the Pilbara, 
IBN needs to ensure that we maintain accurate records 
and act prudently in all of our investment and spending 
decisions. The finance team is focused on reducing 
operational expenditure where it is reasonable and 
increasing the investment returns where the risk is 
justifiable, so that we can increase the potential benefits 
that are available to the members.

The key measurement for the team moving forward 
is the ratio of benefits paid to members, against the 
operating cost of IBN. We have listened and heard 
members concerns around this metric in previous years 
and have committed to improving this outcome in the 
interests of all parties.

The first part of this is that IBN will carefully manage 
it’s operating expenses and ensure that funds spent on 
operating the business are kept low where possible. 
A substantial amount of work has already taken place 
to restructure the operations of IBN which will reduce 
the employee costs and benefits as well as general 
operating expenses.
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Figure 3: IBN Major Expenditure

Reductions in the operating costs of the IBN Group 

will immediately be available to increase the member 
benefits. IBN were pleased to be able to increase the 
planned benefits for the 2021 financial year and are now 
positioning to provide further benefit expansion into the 
following financial year as well. Overall, we were able 
to provide direct member benefits of over $5.5M to our 
members in the last financial year, which we expect to 
steadily increase moving forward. 
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Figure 4: Community Programs

Changes to the MAC Agreement has meant that since 
2016, IBN has not been receiving royalty payments 
from BHP as a part of a rebalancing process. This has 
required IBN to operate the programs from reserve 
funds and income that has been generated from 
investments and business that we own. 
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Figure 5: Annual Income and Net Assets 

To ensure the continued support of the community 
through this time, the IBN Board has worked hard to 
balance the long-term vision for IBN with the short-term 
needs of the community. We are pleased to advise IBN 
members that this rebalancing period has now come to 
an end following this reporting period. Moving forward, 
60% of MAC royalty payments will be retained by IBN. 

Mutual Trust were appointed in 2011 as the investment 
advisers to IBN. Under instruction from the trustee, 
Mutual Trust manage IBN’s investment assets in 
accordance with IBN’s investment strategy and the 
terms of the trust. IBN appreciates the support and 
work of Mutual Trust over this period from which the 
members have benefited through the investment 
returns that have been generated. In order to ensure 
that the assets are being invested in accordance with 
best practice, the IBN Board will undertake a review 
of the costs, risks and returns that the investment 
manager have generated and measure these against 
other potential managers. Any increased investment 
outcomes that can be achieved will be for the benefit of 
IBN members.
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Figure 6: IBN Major Assets 

Similarly, IBN holds numerous real property assets and 
other managed investment for which we undertake 
to review the risk-adjusted investment returns. 
Improvements in the outcomes for these investments is 
for the benefit of IBN members. 

The finance team will also increase our partnerships 
with the subsidiary businesses of IMMS and IBN 
Services. We are working with their management teams 
to improve the operations with a view to generating 
strong, profitable and sustainable businesses. We 
will work with the businesses to review their financial 
circumstances and provide strategic planning for each 
business moving forward. 

There has been substantial challenges and changes 
within the finance team over the last twelve months 
and there are significant challenges and opportunities 
coming. IBN is pleased with the hard work and 
dedication of the finance team across this period. 
The changes that have been undertaken to staff and 
systems have allowed the team to focus on the core 
task of managing operating expenses and increasing 
member benefits, for which we feel that noticeable 
positive changes for members will occur.
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IMMS is a wholly owned subsidiary of IBN 
and is run by Kara Hawke out of a Port 
Hedland office. The IMMS business is a 
labour hire and recruitment agency that 
seeks to benefit IBN members with their 
employment needs and generate further 
revenue for the group. 
IMMS connects Indigenous and non-Indigenous 
people with great job opportunities in mining, 
construction and marine throughout the Pilbara and 
Australia. Substantial work has been completed over 
recent years on the strategy and opportunity for the 
business to grow its revenue base. The core work force 
supply to the mining sector held up through the year, 
as mining continued with even greater focus on the 
need for local employment given the travel restrictions. 
In some instances, other revenue was generated 
through the ATO Cash Boost and Job Keeper schemes, 
which assisted the business to continue to operate 
throughout the year.

IMMS also holds the BHP NPI Pool and Garden 
Maintenance Contract and we have nearly completed 
our second year – Under the contract we currently 
look after 290 transit houses as well as common areas, 
verges, parks, vacant lands and other adhoc work 
as required, we currently have three trucks and two 
light vehicles on this contract.  By having the ability 
to successfully run this contract for two years we 
have proven to BHP that IMMS have the ability to be 
a sustainable contract provider and this has opened 
other avenues within BHP.   IMMS now also have 
two pathway programs with BHP working with both 
AIMS and Production Technician departments at both 
Finucane Island and Nelson Point sites.   These roles 
in particular will enable individuals with limited work 
history to gain not only site experience and training but 
also individual candidates will have the opportunity 
to move into an apprenticeships or traineeships with 
the opportunity for permanent placement.  These 
roles have only the basic pre requisites with drivers’ 
licence, medical and police clearance being the only 
requirements and will be a terrific opportunity for 
school leaves wanting to join the workforce or parents 
wanting to get back into the workforce.    IMMS has 
approached Hedland High School and engaged with 
year 12’s during the final months of the school term to 
advise students of the opportunities that we currently 
hold as these are also all residential based roles.

IBN is pleased to confirm that the IMMS business 
returned a profit in the financial year of $875,183.

This profit has allowed IMMS to repay outstanding 
debts and structure the balance sheet and the 
organisation towards further sustained success.

IMMS is now well placed to continue to benefit from 
the operating environment that we are in. There 
is continued focus on winning further business 
opportunities and developing partnerships, which will 
see IMMS consolidate its position as a leading labour 
hire service in the Pilbara.

JOIN IMMS 
IBN encourages members who are looking 
for work to register with IMMS. IBN can Help 
with gaining tickets, licences or further 
training is available to help members 
secure great job opportunities. Visit  
www.imms.net.au or call 1300 368 865.
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CURRENT AND FUTURE PROJECTS
All our current contracts for yard maintenance are  
on-going and we are currently in the process of 
quoting the Department of Lands and Heritage for 
further works of their properties in Karratha.

Arbor Centre have engaged IBNS to water and maintain 
two Boab trees that have recently been installed at 
the Port Hedland Airport and we have current and 
upcoming plant orders that will keep our Nursery 
extremely busy such as Greening Australia for delivery 
of in excess of 5000 plants.

IBNS’s contract with BHP, Yarrie mine site is still 
ongoing and continues to develop and generate 
further works into the future. This includes propagating 
and planting across the Yarrie Mesa as part of BHP’s 
Northern Quoll project incorporating field monitoring 
these sites in the future and growing and planting 3000 
Pilbara Native plants at Yandi mine site in April 2021.

IBN Services is continuing to expand their capabilities 
and look forward to growing their skill base to secure 
larger, ongoing projects in Port Hedland and the 
Pilbara. Importantly I have been able to undertake a 
strategic review of the IBN Services business with a 
view of turning IBN Services into a profitable enterprise. 
We commit to working closely with IBN to ensure that 
these important financial milestones are achieved and 
that IBN Services can sustain a profitable business 
model moving forward. 

Thanharru!

It has been an exciting year for IBN 
Services (IBNS) both socially and 
commercially. We are pleased to advise 
that all staff are now employed directly 
to IBNS including our work crew. This is a 
great outcome as it retains a local crew 
of knowledgeable staff with the benefit of 
full time employment for local residents, 
including IBN Members.
This year, several IBNS crew enrolled in Certificate II 
and Certificate III in Horticulture and have completed 
their course/qualifications with full competencies. 
Congratulations to these crew members. We are proud 
of their achievements and their ongoing efforts in 
developing their skills and careers.

Cert I I  in Horticulture:
• Jeffrey Dhu
• Zac Ingie
 
Cert  I I I  in Horticulture:
• Noel Aubrey
• Barry Lockyer Jnr
• Claudia McDonald
• Jordan Ingie
 
 
Other training and development our crew has 
undertaken are in First Aid and Pest Control. This 
enables our crew to carry out weed management as a 
commercial enterprise as they are now qualified and 
competent in this era.

All our registered technicians are able to perform weed 
management in bushland, landscapes and gardens.

Again, congratulations to all our crew who have worked 
tirelessly through the year in difficult circumstances.

Crew development has been vital for the IBNS crew as 
it has not only advantaged them in current projects but 
also qualified them for exciting upcoming projects.

PROJECTS
IBNS retains its popular Native Plant Nursery with over 
40,000 plants and continues to be sought after for 
commercial and landscaping works across the Pilbara. 
This includes company contracts such as BHP, Yurra, 
Greening Australia, Shire of Ashburton, City of Karratha 
and Outback Trees.

Income revenue for our Native Plant Nursery in this 
financial year has exceeded $100,000. 

This year our operations experienced positive 
development, both in our works and the progression of 
our crew. 8 IBNS employees applied and succeeded 
in registering as a Pest Management Business with 
the Department of Health. This has been a major 
development for IBNS as it has enabled IBNS to initiate 
contracts with BHP to carry out revegetation works at 
Mine sites and Port facilities. These works incorporate 
weed spraying at camp site such as Yarrie mine site, 
Shay Gap, Cattle Gorge, Nimingarra and Yarrie Mesa, 
and trial different treatment methods on Calotropis 
weeds (a declared weed of national significance) and 
also BHP Nelson Point for the broadcasting of gypsum, 
fertilizer and native seeds mix to 15,000 square m etres 
as part of their revegetation and dust control strategy.

Other projects that have been undertaken 
by IBNS this f inancial year include:
• John Holland - for watering, monitoring and 

reporting of plants that were installed by IBNS on the 
Great Northern Highway Realignment

• Austrak - for works carried out for the installation 
and repairs at their Wedgefield site of two new 
kitchenettes

• South Hedland Aboriginal Hostel - for fortnightly 
garden maintenance

• Watercorp - monthly yard maintenance
• Department of Lands and Heritage - slashing and 

removal of all debris from the Three Mile Community.
• Works carried out by IBNS crew members have 

generated an income revenue of over $400,000. This 
is a fantastic achievement for all involved at IBNS.

R E P O R T 

IBN Services

IBN SERVICES GRADUATES 
Congratulations to the IBN Services trainees 
who completed a Certificate II or Certificate III  
in Horticulture through North Regional TAFE  
this year. Many of the crew spent the past 
12 months working hard to complete the 
qualification whilst putting their skills to use  
at IBN Services working with the native plant 
stock and in the field.

IBN Services offers members the chance to  
learn and develop their skills, whilst being 
employed by an IBN business.

IBN Services and the Horticultural qualification 
process is an enduring part of IBN’s strategy to 
provide employment and training for members, 
within an IBN owned business that will generate 
revenue for the group. The crew undertake a 
range of qualifications, tickets and licences to 
set them up for future job opportunities.

IBN Services a major part of IBN’s broader 
strategy of delivering on positive member 
outcomes as well as building financial 
sustainability for the group.

IBN will continue to work with the North 
Regional TAFE to offer a new group of trainees 
the chance to complete the certificate next year.

“ Congratulations  
to all our crew who  
have worked tirelessly 
through the year in 
difficult circumstances.
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Year Ended Year Ended
Note 30 June 2020 30 June 2019

$ $

Revenue 2 6,459,276 9,178,407

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 3 (i) (722,432) (765,996)

Program and project expenses 3 (ii) (6,616,762) (7,947,846)

Wages and employee benefits 3 (iii) (5,066,036) (4,918,431)

Other expenses 3 (iv) (4,539,682) (5,568,484)

(Loss) before income tax (10,485,636) (10,022,350)

Income tax expense 1.6 - - 

(Loss) attributable to beneficiaries 9 (10,485,636) (10,022,350)

Other comprehensive income for the year - - 

Total comprehensive (expenses) for the year (10,485,636) (10,022,350)

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

IBN Charitable Foundation
As Trustee for

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

Page 2

Year Ended Year Ended
Note 30 June 2020 30 June 2019

$ $
ASSETS

Current assets
 Cash and cash equivalents 4.1 4,141,883 31,759,736
 Trade and other receivables 4.2 8,538,630 673,879
 Other assets 4.3 238,970 110,405
Total current assets 12,919,482 32,544,020

Non-current assets
 Investments 5.1 105,658,509 86,666,529
 Property, plant and equipment 5.2 39,742,716 40,128,753
 Right-of use assets 5.3 81,806 308,201
Total non-current assets 145,483,031 127,103,483

TOTAL ASSETS 158,402,513 159,647,503

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
 Trade and other payables 6.1 1,044,614 1,184,188
 Other financial liabilities 6.2 - 431
 Provisions 6.3 294,597 316,952
Total current liabilities 1,339,212 1,501,571

Non-current liabilities
 Rebalancing amount due to new Trusts - 20,639,608
  Other non-current liabilities 7 122,831 88,461
Total non-current liabilities 122,831 20,728,069

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,462,042 22,229,640

NET ASSETS 156,940,471 137,417,863

EQUITY TRUST FUNDS
 Contributions by settlor 10 10
  Trust funds available for distribution 9 156,940,461 137,417,853
TOTAL EQUITY TRUST FUNDS 156,940,471 137,417,863

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

IBN Charitable Foundation
As Trustee for

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd

AS AT 30 JUNE 2020
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
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Contributions Undistributed
Note by settlor income

$ $

Balance at 1 July 2018 10 136,936,852

Total comprehensive expenditure for the year - (10,022,350)

Capital receipts under the MAC Agreement 9 - 10,503,351

Balance at 30 June 2019 10 137,417,853

Balance at 1 July 2019 10 137,417,853

Total comprehensive expenditure for the year - (10,485,636)

Capital receipts under the MAC Agreement 9 - 30,008,244

Balance at 30 June 2020 10 156,940,461

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

AS AT 30 JUNE 2020

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Charitable Foundation

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY TRUST FUNDS 
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Year Ended Year Ended
Note 30 June 2020 30 June 2019

$ $

Cash flows from operating activities 
  Receipts from customers 980,672 2,180,910
  Payments to suppliers and employees (16,310,387) (16,244,398)
  Interest received 156,814 840,453
  Receipts from investments 2,334,436 4,706,429

  Net cash (outflow) / inflow from operating    activities 12 (12,838,465) (8,516,606)

Cash flows from investing activities
  Receipts from capital compensation under the MAC 
Agreement 9,425,095 88,461.00 

  Receipts from disposal of property, plant and equipment - 1,062,417
  Purchase of property, plant and equipment (336,395) (1,800,721)
  Purchase of investments (23,868,088) 4,343,382

Net cash (outflow) / Inflow from investing activities (14,779,388) 3,693,539

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (27,617,853) (4,823,067)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 31,759,736 36,582,803

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 4 4,141,883 31,759,736

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Charitable Foundation

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.1  Statement of compliance

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IBN Charitable Foundation
As Trustee for

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd

The financial statements cover IBN Charitable Foundation as an individual entity. IBN Charitable 
Foundation is a discretionary trust established and domiciled in Australia.

·         AASB 9 Financial Instruments. This standard replaces AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement. It simplifies the model for classifying and recognising financial instruments and aligns hedge 
accounting more closely with common risk management practises. Changes in own credit risk in respect of 
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss shall now be presented within other comprehensive 
income. The incurred credit loss model in AASB 139 has been replaced with an expected credit loss model in AASB 
9.

·         AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. This standard replaces all existing revenue requirements 
in Australian Accounting Standards (AASB 111, AASB 118, AASB Interpretation 13, AASB Interpretation 15, AASB 
Interpretation 18 and AASB Interpretation 131) and applies to all revenue arising from contracts with customers. 
The core principle of AASB 15 is that revenue is recognised when control of a good or service transfers to a 
customer – so the notion of control replaces the existing notion of risks and rewards.

·         AASB 2017-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Transfers of Investments Property, Annual 
Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle and Other Amendments. The amendments explain that transfers to, or from, 
investment property can only be made if there has been a change in use that is supported by evidence (under 
AASB 140). They also clarify minor points in various accounting standards, including AASB 1, AASB 12 and AASB 
128.

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation of the financial 
statements for the year ended 30 June 2020.

These financial statements have been prepared as general purpose financial statements in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs) (including Australian Interpretations) adopted by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (AASB).

The following new and amended Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations were available for early 
adoption but have not been assessed for application by IBN Charitable Foundation in these financial statements:

Page 6

1.1  Statement of compliance (continued)

         AASB 16 Lease . This standard requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-balance 
sheet model and removes the current distinction between operating and financing leases. At the 
commencement date of lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments and an asset 
representing the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term (the right-of-use asset). The 
standard includes two recognition exemptions for lessees-lease of ‘low value’ assets (e.g., personal 
computers) and short-term leases (i.e., leases with a lease term of 12 months or less). Lessees will be 
required to separately recognise the interest expenses on the lease liability and the depreciation 
expense on the right-of-use asset.

         AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities . The AASB has issued a new standard for income 
recognition by public and private sector not-for-profit entities. This will replace AASB 1004 Contributions 
and introduce major changes to the income recognition by public and private sector not-for-profits. 
Under the new standard, not-for-profits will need to determine whether a transaction is a genuine 
donation (accounted for under AASB 1058) or a contract with a customer (accounted for under AASB 
15).

         AASB 2016-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Australian Implementation 
Guidance for Not-For-Profit Entities . This standard inserts Australian requirements and authoritative 
implementation guidance for not-for-profit entities into AASB 9 and AASB 15. This guidance assists not-
for-profit entities in applying those stands to particular transactions and other events.

The financial statements have been prepared with the exception of AASB10 Consolidated Financial 
Statements . AASB10 Consolidated Financial Statements  has not been adopted in the preparation of the 
general purpose financial statements. The operations of Indigenous Mining Services Pty Ltd Trading 
as Indigenous Mining & Marine Services are not included in this report.

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Charitable Foundation
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
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1.2

1.3

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Charitable Foundation
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and in accordance with the 
historical cost convention modified by the revaluation of selected non-current assets, financial 
assets and financial liabilities for which the fair value basis of accounting has been applied.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been 
consistently applied throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars.

Use of estimates and judgements

No impairment has been recognised for the year ended 30 June 2020.

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that guide the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts 
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any 
future periods affected.

The Directors of the Trustee Company evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into 
the financial statements based on historical knowledge and best available current 
information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events and are based on 
current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and internally.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation, uncertainty and critical 
judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the 
amount recognised in the financial statements are:

Impairment

The Directors of the Trustee Company assess impairments at each reporting date by 
evaluating conditions specific to the Trust that may lead to impairment of assets. Where an 
impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. Value-in-use 
calculations performed in assessing recoverable amounts incorporate a number of key 
estimates.

Page 8

1.3

1.4 Revenue recognition

1.5

1.6

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Charitable Foundation
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

Use of estimates and judgements (continued)

Doubtful debts provisions 

The Directors of the Trustee Company believe that the full amount of debt is recoverable and no 
doubtful debt provision has been made at 30 June 2020.

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to IBN 
Charitable Foundation and the revenue can be reliably measured. 

Revenue from the rendering of a service is recognised upon the delivery of the service to customers.

IBN Charitable Foundation is recognised by the Australian Taxation Office as a tax exempt charitable 
organisation. Accordingly, there is no liability for income taxes at the reporting date.

Interest revenue includes interest receivable on funds invested and is recognised on a proportional basis 
taking into account the interest rates applicable to the financial assets.

Dividend, lease and trust distribution revenue is recognised when the right to receive a dividend, lease 
income or trust distribution has been established.

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).

Expenses by nature

Operating expenses are presented in the Statement of Comprehensive Income using a classification 
based on the nature of expenses. 

Income Tax
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1.7

1.8

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Charitable Foundation
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

Operating expenses are presented in the Statement of Comprehensive Income using a classification 

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised and carried at the original amounts due. These are generally 
settled within 30 days.

The value of the provision for impairment loss is assessed using an analysis of historical data to 
determine the level of risk and subsequent recovery of debts based on the age of the amounts 
outstanding. Bad debts are written off when formally recognised as being irrecoverable.

Trade and other receivables are stated at their cost less impairment losses.

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually to ensure it is not in excess of the 
recoverable amount from those assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected 
net cash flows that will be received from the asset’s employment and subsequent disposal. The expected 
net cash flows have not been discounted to present values in determining the recoverable amounts.

Subsequent costs are only included in the asset’s carrying amount when it is probable that the future 
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Trust and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment purchased are recorded at the cost of acquisition or fair value, where 
applicable, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that is 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.

(a)     Property 

Freehold land and buildings are shown at cost less subsequent depreciation for buildings.

(b)     Plant & Equipment 

Plant and equipment is measured on the cost basis less depreciation and impairment losses.

Page 10

1.9

1.10

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Charitable Foundation
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

Financial instruments are initially measured at cost on trade date, which includes transaction costs, when 
the related contractual rights or obligations exist. Subsequent to initial recognition these instruments are 
measured as set out below.

Impairment of Assets

The carrying values of assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate the carrying value may not be receivable.

At each reporting date, the Directors of the Trustee Company review the carrying values of its tangible 
and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. 
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value 
less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the asset’s carrying value. Any excess of the asset’s 
carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Financial Instruments

(a)   Recognition

(b)   Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short 
term or if so designated by management and within the requirements of AASB139: Recognition and 
Measurement of Financial Instruments . Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in 
fair value of these assets are included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which 
they arise.

In addition to cash, IBN Charitable Foundation has three categories of financial instruments:

(i)    Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market, and are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method.
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1.10

1.11

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Charitable Foundation
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

(c)   Fair value

Financial Instruments (continued)

 (ii)   Held-to-maturity Investments 

These investments have fixed maturities, and it is the Trust’s intention to hold these investments to 
maturity. Any held-to-maturity investments are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method.

(iii)   Financial Liabilities

Non-derivative financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost, comprising original debt less 
principal payments.

Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation techniques are 
applied to determine the fair value for all unlisted securities, including recent arm’s length transactions, 
reference to similar instruments and option pricing models.

(d)  Impairment

At each reporting date, the Directors of the Trustee Company assess whether there is objective evidence 
that financial instruments have been impaired. In the case of available-for-sale financial instruments, a 
prolonged decline in value of the instrument is considered to determine whether impairment has arisen, 
impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Payables

Payables, including trade creditors, amounts payable and accrued expenses, are recognised for amounts 
to be paid in the future for goods and services received prior to the end of the reporting period. Trade 
creditors are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.
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1.12

1.13

1.14

1.15

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Charitable Foundation
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

Cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of Financial Position comprise cash on hand, cash at bank, 
deposits held at call with banks or financial institutions, other short term highly liquid investments with 
original maturities of twelve months or less.

Cash and cash equivalents

Employee Benefits

All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ services provided up to 
the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements expected to be settled within one year have been measured at the amount 
expected to be paid when the liability is settled, plus a related on-cost. Employee entitlements payable 
later than one year have been measured at the present value of the estimated future cash flows to be 
made for those entitlements.

Provisions

A provision is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when IBN Charitable Foundation has a 
present legal or constructive obligation, as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation.

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as 
defined above.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax, except 
where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In these 
circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the 
expense item as applicable.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of GST. The net amount of GST recoverable from or 
payable to the Australian Taxation Office is included as a current asset or liability in the Statement of 
Financial Position.

Cash flows are presented in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis.  The GST components of cash 
flows arising from investing and financing activities, which are recoverable from, or payable to, the 
Australian Taxation Office are classified as operating cash flows.

Page 13
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Year Ended Year Ended
30 June 2020 30 June 2019

$ $
2. REVENUE 

Operating Activities:
Distribution income received from IBN 
Foundation 2 Financial Assistance Foundation 0 22,169
Interest revenue 2,340,228 827,219
Increase in market value of Managed Funds -307,496 2,552,204
Dividend income 2,488,569 2,390,115
Realised profit on sale of investments 0 1,293,641
Franking credit 127,668 121,110
Rental Income            1,271,399 1,059,790
Other Income 538,909 912,159
Total revenue 6,459,276 9,178,407

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IBN Charitable Foundation
As Trustee for

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd

Page 14

Year Ended Year Ended
30 June 2020 30 June 2019

$ $
3. (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX

(Loss) before income tax is after charging the following specific expenses:
(i) Depreciation and amortisation

Buildings 587,296 454,499
Plant and equipment 133,957 196,715
Motor vehicles 1,179 1,585
Intangible Assets 0 113,197
Total depreciation and amortisation 722,432 765,996

(ii) Program and project in 2019/20
Education, training & enterprise 1,064,110 1,723,802
Health and wellbeing 1,450,409 1,419,246
Cultural support 559,534 350,859
Household essentials 2,079,105 1,930,420
Member advocacy & advice 24,679 198,059
Income tested assistance 333,984 749,708
Community & member services operations 477,327 308,818
IBN Services operating 627,614 1,266,934
Total program and project  expenses 6,616,762 7,947,846

Year Ended Year Ended
30 June 2020 30 June 2019

$ $
3. (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX (continued)

(iii) Wages and employee benefits 
Wages and salaries 4,065,488 3,910,485
Workers’ compensation 82,341 64,296
Superannuation costs 399,322 360,336
Employee allowance & on-costs 518,886 583,314
Total employee benefits expenses 5,066,036 4,918,431

(iv) Other expenses
Decline in market value of investments 0 3,433
Admin and operating expenses 2,566,196 2,131,816
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 0 1,981,505
Rep Corps costs 373,411 454,665
Board expenses 567,218 455,751
Community and member meetings 686,947 149,748
Other employment costs 345,910 391,566
Total other expenses 4,539,682 5,568,484

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IBN Charitable Foundation
As Trustee for
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4. CURRENT ASSETS

4.1 Cash and cash equivalents

30 June 2020 30 June 2019
$ $

Cash at bank and in hand 294,552 288,865
At call deposits 3,847,331 2,670,871
Term Deposits 0 28,800,000
Total cash and cash equivalents 4,141,883 31,759,736

(i)                Significant terms and conditions

 

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Charitable Foundation
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

(ii)              Fair value

The directors consider the carrying amounts of cash at bank and at call deposits represent their 
fair value.

Cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank, cash in hand, at call deposits and term 
deposits.

(i) Significant terms and conditions

Interest on cash at bank and at call deposits were at prevailing rates.

Term deposits are held until their maturity and are normally held for a period of twelve months 
or less.

Page 16

4.2 Trade and other receivables
      

30 June 2020 30 June 2019
$ $

Trade debtors 108,315 130,932
Accrued income 8,390,292 365,602
Other debtors 40,023 177,345

8,538,630 673,879

4.2 Trade and other receivables (continued)

(i)                  Significant terms and conditions

(ii)                Impairment of losses

(iii)              Fair Value

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Charitable Foundation
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

Trade and other receivables represent debtors, loans receivable and other receivables. Accrued Income includes 
accrued interest, dividend and beneficiary distribution income.

The Trust exposure to credit risks related to trade and other receivables is disclosed at Note 8.

The directors consider the carrying amounts of trade and other receivables represent their fair value.

No provision was required for impairment losses in respect of trade and other receivables during the 
year as there was no evidence of impairment.

Trade debtors are generally settled within 30 days.
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30 June 2020 30 June 2019
$ $

4.3 Other assets 

Prepaid expenses 60,144 10,144
Credit card debtors 178,826 100,261

238,970 110,405

5. NON-CURRENT ASSETS

5.1 Investments
30 June 2020 30 June 2019

$ $
Funds invested in Managed Funds 104,077,426 85,085,446
Investment in Indigenous Mining Services Pty Ltd 1,581,083 1,581,083

105,658,509 86,666,529

Indigenous Mining Services Pty Ltd is a wholly owned subsidiary of IBN Charitable Foundation. 

The directors consider the carrying amounts of investments represent their fair value.

(i) Fair value

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Charitable Foundation
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
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30 June 2020 30 June 2019
$ $

5.2 Property, plant and equipment

Buildings
At cost 42,664,695 37,456,867
Less: Accumulated depreciation (3,663,238) (3,075,942)
At net book value 39,001,456 34,380,925

Leasehold improvements
At cost 12,331 1,749
Less: Accumulated depreciation (326) (9)
At net book value 12,005 1,740

Office plant and equipment
At cost 1,205,833 1,187,509
Less: Accumulated depreciation (1,023,386) (919,717)
At net book value 182,447 267,792

IBN Services property, plant and equipment
At cost 203,874 190,030
Less: Accumulated depreciation (145,526) (128,640)
At net book value 58,348 61,390

Motor vehicles
At cost 32,676 32,676
Less: Accumulated depreciation (29,196) (28,018)
At net book value 3,480 4,658

Housing plant and equipment
At cost 148,321 148,321
Less: Accumulated depreciation (118,281) (105,195)
At net book value 30,040 43,126

Artwork and paintings
At cost 53,664 53,664
Less: Accumulated depreciation -                      -                      
At net book value 53,664 53,664

Total Property, plant and equipment at net book 
value 39,341,440 34,813,295
Add: Work in progress (at cost) 401,276 5,315,458
Total Property, plant and equipment 39,742,716 40,128,753

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Charitable Foundation
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
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30 June 2020 30 June 2019
$ $

5.2 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Reconciliation of carrying amounts

Buildings
Carrying amount at beginning of year 34,380,925 36,987,904
Additions 5,207,828 (2,152,480)
Depreciation for the year (587,297) (454,499)
Carrying amount at end of year 39,001,456 34,380,925

Leasehold improvements
Carrying amount at beginning of year 1,740 1,749
Additions 10,582 -                      
Depreciation for the year (316) (9)
Carrying amount at end of year 12,005               1,740

Office plant and equipment
Carrying amount at beginning of year 267,792 381,762
Additions 18,324 43,259
Depreciation for the year (103,670) (157,229)
Carrying amount at end of year 182,447 267,792

IBN Services plant and equipment
Carrying amount at beginning of year 61,389 83,812
Additions 13,844 1,891
Depreciation for the year (16,885) (24,314)
Carrying amount at end of year 58,348 61,389

Motor vehicles
Carrying amount at beginning of year 4,658 6,243
Additions -                     -                      
Depreciation for the year (1,178) (1,585)
Carrying amount at end of year 3,480 4,658

Housing plant and equipment
Carrying amount at beginning of year 43,127 46,920
Additions -                     11,368
Depreciation for the year (13,086) (15,161)
Carrying amount at end of year 30,040 43,127

Artwork & Paintings
Carrying amount at beginning of year 53,664 53,664

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Charitable Foundation
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
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Additions -                     -                      
Depreciation for the year -                     -                      
Carrying amount at end of year 53,664 53,664
              
Capital work in progress
Carrying amount at beginning of year 5,315,458 4,887,866
Additions (4,914,182) 427,592
Capitalised in the year -                     -                      
Carrying amount at end of year 401,276 5,315,458
              
Total Property, plant and equipment carrying value at 
30 June 2020 39,742,716 40,128,753
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5.3 Right-of-use (leased) assets 30 June 2020 30 June 2019
$ $

Right of Use Assets
At cost 308,201 421,398
Less: Accumulated Amortisation (226,395) (113,197)
At net book value 81,806 308,201
Total right-of-use assets at net book value 81,806 308,201

A total of $81,806 lease liabilities have been recorded representing its obligations to    make 
lease payments.

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Charitable Foundation
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
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6 CURRENT LIABILITIES 30 June 2020 30 June 2019
$ $

6.1 Trade and other payables

Unsecured
Trade creditors 792,784 816,991
Other creditors (481,238) 303,371
Accrued expenses 733,068 63,826

1,044,614 1,184,188

(i)            Significant terms and conditions

(ii)                 Fair value

Trade and other payables represent trade creditors, amounts payable and accrued 
expenses. Accrued expenses are comprised of interest and charges for goods and services 
received but not invoiced as at the end of the reporting period.

The directors consider the carrying amounts of trade creditors and other payables 
represent their fair value.

Trade creditors are non-interest bearing and are generally settled within 30 days.

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Charitable Foundation
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
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30 June 2020 30 June 2019
  $   $

6 CURRENT LIABILITIES (Continued)

6.2 Other financial liabilities

Credit card liabilities 0 431

6.3 Provisions

Employee entitlements 294,597 316,952

A provision has been recognised for employee entitlements relating to annual leave and long 
service leave. The measurement and recognition criteria for employee benefits have been 
included in Note 1 Statement of significant accounting policies.

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Charitable Foundation
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
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30 June 2020 30 June 2019
  $   $

7. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Rebalancing amounts due to new Trusts 0 20,639,608
Other non-current liabilities 122,831 88,461

122,831 20,728,069

The liability was created for $62,420,411.92 against equity trust funds where the MACA receipts 
were originally reflected. This liability will then unwind as IBN Charitable Foundation’s 60% 
entitlement of MACA receipts was used to satisfy the rebalancing to the new trusts.

The amended MAC Agreement was signed on 27 October 2016 and the rebalancing commenced in 
November 2016. IBN Charitable Foundation therefore recognised a non-current liability for the 
amounts due to the new discretionary Trusts, given the facts that the liability is definitively 
committed and accurately calculated. 

The balance entitlement has fully paid off in 2019/20 financial year to new trusts, hence the rebalancing 
liability has now been fully cleared.

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Charitable Foundation
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
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8. 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IBN Charitable Foundation
As Trustee for

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of debtors defaulting on the 
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Trust. IBN Charitable 
Foundation measures credit risk on a fair value basis and monitors risk on a regular 
basis. With respect to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents, the Trust’s 
exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counter party, with a maximum 
exposure equal to the carrying amount of the cash and cash equivalents.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(i)                 Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Trust’s financial instruments consist mainly of cash and cash equivalents, 
money market instruments, short-term investments, receivables and 
payables.

The Trust does not have derivative instruments at 30 June 2020.

(ii)               Financial risk exposures and management

The Directors of the Trustee Company meet on a regular basis to analyse financial 
risk exposure and to evaluate management strategies in the context of the most 
recent economic conditions and forecasts.

The Trustees’ overall risk management strategy is to seek outside consultants and 
advisors to assist the Trust in meeting its financial targets, whilst minimising 
potential adverse effects. Financial risk management policies are implemented and 
reviewed by the trustees on an as needed basis.

The main risks arising from IBN Charitable Foundation’s financial instruments are 
interest rate risk, credit risk and price risk. The Trust’s policies for managing each of 
these risks are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

IBN Charitable Foundation’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rate 
relates primarily to its cash and cash equivalent holdings. The Trust has limited 
exposure to interest rate risk because it has no borrowings.

Credit risk
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8.

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Charitable Foundation
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

Credit risk is managed and reviewed regularly by the trustees.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(ii)               Financial risk exposures and management (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance 
date to recognise financial assets, is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those 
assets, as disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position and notes of the financial statements.

There are no amounts of collateral held as security at 30 June 2020.

The Trustee monitors credit risk by actively assessing the rating quality and liquidity of counter parties. 
Only banks and financial institutions with an ‘A’ Rating are utilised. Customers’ creditworthiness is assessed 
on an individual basis.

At year end the Trust does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group of 
receivables under financial instruments entered into by the Trust.

Price risk

The Trust has an exposure to commodity price risk under the MAC Agreement. Capital compensation 
amounts from the MAC Agreement are linked to the base price of Iron Ore and can increase and decrease 
depending on the movements in the base price of Iron Ore.

The receivables balance as at 30 June 2020 does not include any counterparties with external credit 
ratings.
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30 June 2020 30 June 2019
$ $

8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(ii)               Financial instruments composition and maturity analysis

Financial instruments - Floating interest rate exposure:
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4,135,023 31,757,054
Investment 105,658,509 86,666,529

109,793,531 118,423,583
Financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities 0 431

Total financial instruments with floating rate exposure 109,793,531 118,423,152

Financial instruments – Non-interest bearing:

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6,861 2,682
Trade debtors and other receivables 8,538,630 673,879
Prepaid expenses 238,970 110,405

8,784,460 786,966

Financial liabilities
Trade creditors and other payables 1,044,614 1,184,188
Rebalancing amounts due to new Trusts 0 20,639,608
Other long term liabilities 122,831 88,461

1,167,445 21,912,257

The table below reflects the undiscounted contractual settlement terms for financial instruments of a fixed 
period of maturity, as well as management’s expectations of the settlement period for all other financial 
instruments. As such, the amounts may not reconcile to the Statement of Financial Position.

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Charitable Foundation
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
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30 June 2020 30 June 2019
   $    $

9. EQUITY TRUST FUNDS

Opening balance 137,417,853 136,936,852

Capital receipts under the MAC Agreement 30,008,244 10,503,351

Net (loss) available for distribution (10,485,636) (10,022,350)

Closing balance 156,940,461 137,417,853

10. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

Remuneration for audit of the financial statements 18,000 16,000

11.

Directors’ fees paid during the reporting period 378,347 334,518

$0 - $5,000 - -
$10,000 - $20,000 - -
$20,000 - $30,000 - -
$30,000 - $40,000 7 7
$40,000 - $50,000 1 1

Total number of directors 8 8

TRUSTEE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The number of directors receiving fees can be summarised into the following salary bands:

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Charitable Foundation
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
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12. NOTES TO STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Reconciliation of cash

30 June 2020 30 June 2019
     $      $

Cash on hand    6,861 2,682
Cash at bank 4,135,023 2,957,054
Term deposits -                         28,800,000

4,141,883 31,759,736

Reconciliation of net cash (outflow) / inflow from operating activities to loss after income tax

Net (loss) (10,485,636) (10,022,350)
(Income) on disposal of fixed assets 0 -                                
Depreciation 722,432 765,996
Loss / (Gain) on disposal of fixed assets - 1,981,505

Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) / Decrease in trade and other receivables (7,864,751) 1,103,630
(Increase) / Decrease in prepaid expenses (128,565) (10,144)
Increase / (Decrease) in trade and other payable 139,574 176,340
Increase / (Decrease) in provisions (22,786) 39,228
(Increase) / Decrease in investment market value 4,801,267 (2,550,811)

          
Net cash (outflow) from operating activities (12,838,465) (8,516,606)

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand and in banks and 
investments in money market instruments.

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Charitable Foundation
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
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13. TRUST DETAILS

14 RELATED PARTIES

Transactions with associated entities:

30 June 2020 30 June 2019
     $      $

$ $
-  beneficiary income distribution receivable 0 22,169

The business office of the IBN Charitable Foundation is 3 Brand Street, South Hedland WA 6722.

The IBN Charitable Foundation is a discretionary beneficiary of The IBN Foundation 2 Financial Assistance Foundation. The 
IBN Foundation 2 Financial Assistance Foundation is therefore considered to be a related party to this trust.

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than those 
available to other parties unless otherwise stated.

The determination of operating (loss) before income tax included the following items, which resulted from transactions with 
the IBN Foundation 2 Financial Assistance Foundation:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IBN Charitable Foundation
As Trustee for

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
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Year Ended Year Ended
Note 30 June 2020 30 June 2019

$ $

Revenue 2 1,412 22,860

Depreciation 3 - -

Other expenses 3 (1,320) (691)

Profit before income tax 92 22,169

Income tax expense 1.6 - -

Profit attributable to beneficiaries 7 92 22,169

Other comprehensive income for the year - -

92 22,169

As Trustee for
IBN Corporation Pty Ltd

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes.

Total comprehensive income for the year

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Financial Assistance Foundation
IBN Foundation 2

Page 3

As At As At
Note 30 June 2020 30 June 2019

$ $
ASSETS

Current assets
  Cash and cash equivalents 4.1 135,205 133,753
  Trade and other receivables 4.2 157,682 157,843
Total current assets  292,888 291,596

TOTAL ASSETS      292,888 291,596

Current liabilities
  Trade and other payables 5.1 61,492 82,369
Total current liabilities 61,492 82,369

TOTAL LIABILITIES 61,492 82,369

NET ASSETS 231,396 209,227

EQUITY TRUST FUNDS
  Contributions by settlor 10 10
  Trust funds available for distribution 7 231,386 209,217
TOTAL EQUITY TRUST FUNDS 231,396 209,227

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Foundation 2
Financial Assistance Foundation

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2020

Page 4

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Contributions Undistributed
Note by settlor amounts

$ $
Balance at 1 July 2018 10 10

Total comprehensive income for the year 7 -

Capital distributions 7 -

Balance at 30 June 2019 10 10

Balance at 1 July 2019 10 10

Total comprehensive income for the year 92

Capital distributions 7 -
Income distribution (92)

Balance at 30 June 2020 10 10

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes.

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Foundation 2
Financial Assistance Foundation

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY TRUST FUNDS 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2020

Page 5

Year Ended Year Ended
Note 30 June 2020 30 June 2019

$ $
Cash flows from operating activities 

Receipts from customers - -
Payments to suppliers and employees 40 (11,981)
Interest received 1,412 2,822

Net cash (outflow) from operating activities 9 1,452 (9,159)

Cash flows from financing activities

Payments made to beneficiaries - (21,243)

Net cash (Outflow) from financing activities - (21,243)

1,452 (30,402)

133,753 164,155

4.1 135,205 133,753

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Financial Assistance Foundation
IBN Foundation 2

As Trustee for
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1

1.1

1.2

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial Assistance Foundation
IBN Foundation 2

The following new and amended Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations were available for early 
adoption but have not been assessed for application by IBN Foundation 2 in these financial statements:

·         AASB 9 Financial Instruments. This standard replaces AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement . It simplifies the model for classifying and recognising financial instruments and aligns hedge 
accounting more closely with common risk management practises. Changes in own credit risk in respect of 
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss shall now be presented within other comprehensive 
income. The incurred credit loss model in AASB 139 has been replaced with an expected credit loss model in 
AASB 9.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and in accordance with the historical cost 
convention modified by the revaluation of selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities for 
which the fair value basis of accounting has been applied.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied 
throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements cover IBN Foundation 2 Financial Assistance Foundation, otherwise known as IBN 
Financial Assistance Trust as an individual entity. IBN Financial Assistance Trust is a discretionary trust established 
and domiciled in Australia.

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation of the financial statements for 
the period ended 30 June 2020. 

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared as general purpose financial statements in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs) (including Australian Interpretations) adopted by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (AASB).

As Trustee for

Page 7

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

Operating expenses are presented in the Statement of Comprehensive Income using a 
classification based on the nature of expenses. 

Income Tax

All taxable income of the IBN Financial Assistance Trust, for the financial period has been 
distributed to its beneficiaries. The IBN Financial Assistance Trust therefore has no income 
tax liability, as there is no accumulation of taxable income. 

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation, uncertainty and critical 
judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the 
amount recognised in the financial statements are:

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to 
IBN Financial Assistance Trust and the revenue can be reliably measured. 

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).

Expenses by nature

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that guide the application of accounting policies and the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any 
future periods affected.

The Directors of the Trustee Company evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into 
the financial statements based on historical knowledge and best available current 
information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events and are based on 
current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and internally.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Foundation 2
Financial Assistance Foundation

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1.7

1.8

1.9

Financial instruments are initially measured at cost on trade date, which includes 
transaction costs, when the related contractual rights or obligations exist. Subsequent to 
initial recognition these instruments are measured as set out below.

Impairment of Assets

The carrying value of assets is reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be receivable.

At each reporting date, the Directors of the Trustee Company review the carrying values 
of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that 
those assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of 
the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is 
compared to the asset’s carrying value. Any excess of the asset’s carrying value over its 
recoverable amount is expensed to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Financial Instruments

(a)     Recognition

Receivables
Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised and carried at the original amounts due. 

The value of the provision for impairment loss is assessed using an analysis of historical 
data to determine the level of risk and subsequent recovery of debts based on the age of 
the amounts outstanding. Bad debts are written off when formally recognised as being 
irrecoverable.

Trade and other receivables are stated at their cost less impairment losses.

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Foundation 2
Financial Assistance Foundation

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
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1.9

(d)     Impairment

At each reporting date, the Directors of the Trustee Company assess whether there is 
objective evidence that financial instruments have been impaired. In the case of available-for-
sale financial instruments, a prolonged decline in value of the instrument is considered to 
determine whether impairment has arisen, impairment losses are recognised in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market are stated at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method.

(ii)  Financial Liabilities

Non-derivative financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost, comprising original debt 
less principal payments and amortisation.

(c)      Fair value

Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation 
techniques are applied to determine the fair value for all unlisted securities, including recent 
arm’s length transactions, reference to similar instruments and option pricing models.

Financial Instruments (continued)

(b)  Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in 
the short term or if so designated by management and within the requirements of AASB139: 
Recognition and Measurement of Financial Instruments . Realised and unrealised gains and 
losses arising from changes in fair value of these assets are included in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income in the period in which they arise.

In addition to cash, IBN Financial Assistance Trust has two categories of financial instruments:

(i)  Loans and Receivables 

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Foundation 2
Financial Assistance Foundation

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

Page 10
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1.1

1.11

1.12

1.13

Cash flows are presented in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis.  The GST 
components of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities, which are 
recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office are classified as operating 
cash flows.

Cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of Financial Position comprise cash on hand, cash 
at bank, deposits held at call with banks or financial institutions, other short term highly liquid 
investments with maturities of six months or less.

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash equivalents consist of cash and cash 
equivalents as defined above.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax, 
except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In 
these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as 
part of the expense item as applicable.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of GST. The net amount of GST recoverable 
from or payable to the Australian Taxation Office is included as a current asset or liability in 
the Statement of Financial Position.

Payables

Payables, including trade creditors, amounts payable and accrued expenses, are recognised 
for amounts to be paid in the future for goods and services received prior to the end of the 
reporting period. Trade creditors are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of 
recognition.

Provisions

A provision is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when IBN Financial Assistance 
Trust has a present legal or constructive obligation, as a result of a past event, and it is 
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Cash and cash equivalents

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Foundation 2
Financial Assistance Foundation

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
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Year Ended Year Ended
30 June 2020 30 June 2019

$ $
2. REVENUE

Operating Activities
Interest revenue 1,412 22,860
Total revenue 1,412 22,860

3. PROFIT / (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX

Depreciation - -
Other expenses 1,320 691

4. CURRENT ASSETS

4.1 Cash and cash equivalents ( Continued)

Cash at Bank 30,417 30,377
At Call Deposits - -
Term Deposits 104,787 103,376

Total cash and cash equivalents 135,205 133,753

(i) Significant terms and conditions

Interest on cash at bank and at call deposits were at prevailing rates.

(ii) Fair value

The directors consider the carrying amounts of cash at bank represent their fair value.

Term deposits are held until their maturity and are normally held for a period of less than 
twelve months.

IBN Foundation 2
As Trustee for

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd

Profit / (Loss) before income tax is after charging the following expense:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial Assistance Foundation

Page 12
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Year Ended Year Ended
30 June 2020 30 June 2019

4.2 Trade and other receivables $ $

Loan receivable - related - -
Loan receivable - member 137,645 137,645
Loan receivable - unrelated -
Loan receivable - Garuwarra Investments 
Pty Ltd 319,230 319,230
Loan loss allowance - Garuwarra 
Investments Pty Ltd (299,192) (299,192)
Other receivables - 160

157,682 157,843

(i) Impairment of losses

(ii) Fair Value

The directors consider the carrying amounts of trade and other receivables represent 
their fair value.

No provision was made for impairment losses in respect of loan receivable – Garuwarra 
Investment Pty Ltd during the year.

Trade and other receivables represent loans receivable and other receivables. 

The Trust exposure to credit risks related to trade and other receivables are disclosed in 
Note 6.

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Foundation 2
Financial Assistance Foundation

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
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As At As At
30 June 2020 30 June 2019

$ $
5. CURRENT LIABILITIES

5.1 Trade and other payables

Trade creditors - -
Other payables - -
Accrued expense 6,200 5,000
Unpaid present entitlements:
  Banyjima 19,400 19,400
  M Banyjima 5,000 5,000
  Yinhawangka 7,200 7,200
  Nyiyaparli 23,600 23,600

55,200 55,200
  IBN Foundation No. 1 92 22,169

61,492 82,369

(i) Significant terms and conditions

Trade creditors are generally settled within 30 days.

(ii) Fair Value
The directors consider the carrying amounts of trade creditors and other 
payables represent their fair value.

Trade and other payables represent trade creditors, loan payable, other 
payables and unpaid present entitlements.

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Foundation 2
Financial Assistance Foundation

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

Page 14
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6.       

(i)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

Credit Risk 

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of debtors defaulting on the contractual obligations 
resulting in financial loss to the Trust. IBN Financial Assistance Trust measures credit risk on a fair 
value basis and monitors risk on a regular basis. With respect to credit risk arising from cash and 
cash equivalents, the Trust’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counter party, with 
a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of the cash and cash equivalents.

The Trust does not have any derivative instruments at 30 June 2020.

Financial risk exposures and management

The Directors of the Trustee Company meet on a regular basis to analyse financial risk exposure 
and to evaluate management strategies in the context of the most recent economic conditions 
and forecasts

The Trustee’s overall risk management strategy is to seek outside consultants and advisors to 
assist the Trust in meeting its financial targets, whilst minimising potential adverse effects. 
Financial risk management policies are implemented and reviewed by the trustees on an as 
needed basis.

The main risks arising from IBN Financial Assistance Trust’s financial instruments are interest rate 
risk and credit risk. The Trust’s policies for managing each of these risks are summarised below.

IBN Financial Assistance Trust’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rate relates 
primarily to its cash and cash equivalent holdings. The Trust has limited exposure to interest rate 
risk because it has no borrowings.

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Foundation 2
Financial Assistance Foundation

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

The Trust’s financial instruments consist mainly of cash and cash equivalents, receivables and 
payables.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

Page 15

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(ii) 

(iii)

At year end the Trust does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group of 
receivables under financial instruments entered into by the Trust.

Financial instruments composition and maturity analysis

The table below reflects the undiscounted contractual settlement terms for financial instruments of a 
fixed period of maturity, as well as management’s expectations of the settlement period for all other 
financial instruments. As such, the amounts may not reconcile to the balance sheet.

Financial risk exposures and management (continued)

The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance 
date to recognise financial assets, is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those 
assets, as disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position and notes of the financial statements.

There are no amounts of collateral held as security at 30 June 2020.

Credit risk is managed and reviewed regularly by the trustees. It arises from exposures to customers and 
deposits with financial institutions. 

The Trustee monitors credit risk by actively assessing the rating quality and liquidity of counter parties. 
Only banks and financial institutions with an ‘A’ Rating are utilised. Customers’ creditworthiness is 
assessed on an individual basis.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Foundation 2
Financial Assistance Foundation

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Page 16
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Year Ended Year Ended
30 June 2020 30 June 2019

$ $

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 135,205 133,753
Loan receivables - unrelated - -

135,205 133,753

Financial instruments – Non-interest bearing:
Financial assets

Trade debtors and other receivables 157,682 157,843
157,682 157,843

Financial liabilities
Trade creditors and other payables 6,200 5,000
Unpaid present entitlement 55,292 77,369

61,492 82,369

Financial instruments - Floating interest rate exposure:

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Foundation 2
Financial Assistance Foundation

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
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Year Ended Year Ended
30 June 2020 30 June 2019

$ $
7. EQUITY TRUST FUNDS

Opening Balance 231,386 209,217
Net profit available for distribution 92 22,169
Trust funds available for distribution 231,478 231,386

Distributions of Capital
Banyjima - -
M Banyjima - -
Yinhawangka - -
Nyiyaparli - -

- -

Distributions of Income
IBN Charitable Foundation Trust (92) (22,169)

Closing Balance 231,386 209,217

8. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS
Remuneration for audit of the financial 
statements 1,200 5,971

As Trustee for
IBN Corporation Pty Ltd

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial Assistance Foundation
IBN Foundation 2

Page 18
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Year Ended Year Ended
30 June 2020 30 June 2019

$ $

9. NOTES TO STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Reconciliation of cash

Cash at Bank 30,417 30,377
At Call Deposits - -
Term Deposits 104,787 103,376
Total cash and cash equivalents 135,205 133,753

Net Profit 92 22,169
Depreciation expense - -

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other receivables - -
Increase / (Decrease ) in trade and other payables 1,360 (31,328)

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,452 (9,159)

Reconciliation of net cash inflow from operating activities to profit after income tax

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand and in banks and 
investments in money market instruments.

Cash at the end of the year as shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled to the 
related items in the balance sheets as follows:

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Foundation 2
Financial Assistance Foundation

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
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10. TRUST DETAILS

11. RELATED PARTIES

Related Parties

Transactions with associated entities:

Year Ended Year Ended
30 June 2020 30 June 2019

$ $
- Beneficiary income distribution payable (92) (22,169)

The business office of the IBN Financial Assistance Trust is 3 Brand Street, South Hedland WA 
6722.

The IBN Charitable Foundation is a discretionary beneficiary of The IBN Foundation 2 Financial 
Assistance Foundation. The IBN Charitable Foundation is therefore considered to be a related 
party to this trust.

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more 
favourable than those available to other parties unless otherwise stated.

The determination of operating profit before income tax included the following items, which 
resulted from transactions with the IBN Charitable Foundation:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

IBN Corporation Pty Ltd
As Trustee for

IBN Foundation 2
Financial Assistance Foundation

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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INDIGENOUS MINING SERVICES PTY LTD 
ACN 130 791 329 

P a g e 2 | 10 
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INDIGENOUS MINING SERVICES PTY LTD 
ACN 130 791 329 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

P a g e 3 | 10 

Note 2020 2019 
$ $ 

INCOME 
ATO Cash boost 100,000 - 
ATO Job Keeper 486,000 - 
Contract services 1,676 - 
Government services 7,500 22,500 
Interest received - 1 
Labour hire income 4,759,089 3,055,701 
Sundry income 156,196 45,790 
Workers Compensation Recovery 22,602 - 

5,533,061 3,123,992 

LESS EXPENDITURE 
Accountancy fees - 3,427 
Audit fees 13,075 900 
Advertising 8,760 41,039 
Bad debts - 8,221 
Bank charges 4,352 8,159 
Computer expenses 26,014 16,673 
Depreciation - plant and equipment 34,890 25,866 
Garden Cost BHP 15,276 - 
Amortisation 16,286    97,716 
Electricity 13,057 2,883 
Fringe benefits tax expense ($2,496) 3,747 
Insurance 234,688 13,560 
Interest paid  21,267 7,022 
Medical and induction expenses 74,667 28,883 
Motor vehicle expenses 2 56,693 22,660 
Motor vehicle expenses - commercial 3 6,068 107,799 
Payroll tax - 83,811 
Postage 65 393 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements



PAGE 95PAGE 94

IBN GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2019 - 2020

INDIGENOUS MINING SERVICES PTY LTD 
ACN 130 791 329 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

P a g e 4 | 10 

Note 2020 2019 
$ $ 

Stationery and Office Supplies 3,192 9,255 
Training 21,935 24,805 
Protective clothing and uniform 2,385 4,221 
PPE  61,256 - 
Rent 23,155 24,723 
Office Repairs and maintenance 9,346 7,035 
Residential property expenses - Yanderra 4 18,816 30,146 
Staff amenities 650 6,584 
Staff Employment Exp. 1,877 - 
Superannuation - Labour hire 251,369 181,247 
Superannuation - Administration 32,343 22,909 
Sundry expenses 12,595 24,378 
Telephone and internet 16,296 11,310 
Tools, equipment and supplies 34,397 61,286 
Travel, accommodation and conference 7,429 3,334 
Wages and salaries - labour hire 3,274,833 2,132,923 
Wages and salaries - administration 340,456 241,152 
Wages - employee entitlements 692 6,090 
Workers' compensation 22,195 37,403 

 4,657,878  3,301,560 

NET OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX 875,183 (177,568) 
Income tax - Deferred tax (expense) / credit - 31,598 

NET OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS) AFTER INCOME TAX 875,183 (145,970) 
Dividends paid  -  - 
Retained losses at the beginning of the financial year (725,678) (579,708) 

RETAINED PROFIT AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 149,505 (725,678) 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

INDIGENOUS MINING SERVICES PTY LTD 
ACN 130 791 329 

BALANCE SHEET 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2020

P a g e 5 | 10 

Note 2020 2019 

$ $ 

CURRENT ASSETS 

Cash at bank 224,745 73,481 

Trade debtors 845,655 718,998 

Sundry debtors 270,321 23,973 

Deferred tax asset - 194,907 

Prepaid workers compensation - 20,334 

1,340,721 1,031,693 

FIXED ASSETS 

Office equipment 65,191 65,191 

Less Accumulated depreciation (51,556) (49,975) 

Plant - other 60,091 60,091 

Less Accumulated depreciation (18,560) (15,601) 

Motor vehicles 93,490 93,490 

Less Accumulated depreciation (37,572) (31,713) 

Yanderra Crescent house 655,122     655,122 

Less Accumulated depreciation (1,096) (1,035) 

ROU Toyota Fleet at Cost 230,967 230,967 

Less Accumulated amortisation (32,064) (32,064) 

964,012 974,473 

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Goodwill 5 1,962,883 1,962,883 

Less Amortisation and impairment 6 (1,281,805) (1,241,090) 

681,078 721,793 

TOTAL ASSETS 2,985,811 2,727,959 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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INDIGENOUS MINING SERVICES PTY LTD 
ACN 130 791 329 

BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED) 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2020

P a g e 6 | 10 

Note 2020 2019 
$ $ 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Trade creditors 198,195 91,490 
ATO ICA Payable 157,756 - 
Child support and expense advance 701 1,869 
Goods and services tax 110,964 72,588 
Annual leave entitlement 62,795 40,715 
Long service leave entitlement 69,892 35,421 
PAYG withholding 78,902 222,546 
Superannuation payable 27,917 37,198 
Payroll tax payable -       11,378 
Toyota Capitalised Lease 64,129 96,193 
Fringe Benefit Tax Payable (5,806) - 
Other Deduction Payable (793) - 

764,652 609,398 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Westpac Loan - 334,766 
Yanderra House Loan - 120,981 
Toyota Capitalised Lease 12,845 134,774 

12,845 590,521 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 777,497 1,199,919 

NET ASSETS    2,208,316    1,528,040 

EQUITY 
800,000 fully paid ordinary shares issued at $1.00     800,000     800,000 
Capital contribution from IBN Corporation Pty Ltd    1,258,811    1,258,811 
Retained (losses) 149,505 (530,771) 

TOTAL EQUITY    2,208,316    1,528,040 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

INDIGENOUS MINING SERVICES PTY LTD 
ACN 130 791 329 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

P a g e 7 | 10 

1. Statement of Significant Accounting Policies

The financial statements are a special purpose report prepared for useby the directors and me

mbers. The directors have determined that the company is not a reporting entity. 

The statements are prepared on an accruals basis. They are based onhistorical costs and do not 

take into account changing money values or, except where specifically stated, current  

valuations of non-current assets. 

A valuation of the company's goodwill was undertaken at 30 June 2011.The value of the good 

will was set at $920,651. An impairment of the goodwill has been made on this basis. 

No Australian Accounting Standards, Australian AccountingInterpretations or other  

authoritative pronouncements of theAustralian Accounting Standards Board have been 

intentionally applied. 

2. Motor vehicle expenses: 2020 2019 
$ $ 

Fuel and oil 33,328 9,950 
Registration and insurance 1,857 4,850 
Repairs and maintenance 14,597 5,462 
Other 6,911 2,398 

56,693 22,660 

3. Motor Vehicle Commercial 2020 2019 
$ $ 

Fuel and oil - 9,950 
Repairs and maintenance - 165 
Lease expenses 6,068 97,684 

6,068 107,799 
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INDIGENOUS MINING SERVICES PTY LTD 
ACN 130 791 329 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

P a g e 8 | 10 

4. Residential property expenses - Yanderra 2020 2019 
Crescent $ $ 
Interest 13,440 9,461 
Rates and taxes 5,069 5,288 
Insurance - 7,195 
Repairs 307 - 
Utilities - 8,202 

18,816 30,146 

5. Goodwill: 2020 2019 
$ $ 

Goodwill - Purchase of IMS   506,591   506,591 
Goodwill Purchase of PS Recruiting    1,341,895    1,341,895 
Stamp duties paid   105,830   105,830 
Company setup costs     536     536 
Legal costs - IMS/PS agreement 8,031 8,031 

1,962,883    1,962,883 

6. Less: Goodwill amortisation: 2020 2019 
$ $ 

Impairment of goodwill (1,037,093) (1,037,093) 
Goodwill amortisation (244,712) (203,997) 

(1,281,805) (1,241,090) 

INDIGENOUS MINING SERVICES PTY LTD 
ACN 130 791 329 

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

P a g e 9 | 10 

The directors declare that the company is not a reporting entity. The directors have determined that 
this special purpose financial report should be prepared in accordance with the accounting policies 
outlined in Note 1 to the financial statements. 

The directors of the company declare that: 

The financial statements and notes as set out on pages 3 to 8 present fairly the company’s financial 
position as at 30 June 2020 and its performance for the year ended on that date in accordance with 
the accounting policies described in Note 1 to the financial statements; 

In the directors’ opinions there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to 
pay its debts as and when they become due and payable. 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the board of directors. 

Director__________________________________________ 

Director__________________________________________ 

Dated this  day of  2020 
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2/2 Wedge Street, Port Hedland, 
Western Australia, 6721

Postal address: 
PO Box 2772, South Hedland,

Western Australia, 6722

Phone: 1300 368 865 
Fax: 08 9173 3530

 
INDIGENOUS LABOUR, RECRUITMENT & SERVICES 

Independent Audit Report to the Members of Indigenous Mining Services Pty Ltd 

Scope 

The financial report and directors’ responsibility 
The financial report comprises the income statement, balance sheet, accompanying notes to the financial 
statements, and the directors’ declaration for Indigenous Mining Services Pty Ltd, for the year ended 30 
June 2020.   

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and true and fair presentation of the 
financial report in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001.  This includes responsibility for the 
maintenance of adequate accounting records and internal controls that are designed to prevent and detect 
fraud and error, and for the accounting policies and accounting estimates inherent in the financial report. 

Audit Approach 
We conducted an independent audit in order to express an opinion to the members of the company.  Our 
audit was conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing standards, in order to provide reasonable 
assurance as to whether the financial report is free of material misstatement.  The nature of an audit is 
influenced by factors such as the use of professional judgment, selective testing, the inherent limitations of 
internal control, and the availability of persuasive rather than conclusive evidence.  Therefore, an audit 
cannot guarantee that all material misstatements have been detected. 

We performed procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents fairly, in 
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including compliance with Accounting Standards and other 
mandatory financial reporting requirements in Australia, a view which is consistent with our understanding 
of the company’s and the consolidated entity’s financial position, and of their performance as represented 
by the results of their operations and cash flows. 

We formed our audit opinion on the basis of these procedures, which included: 
− examining, on a test basis, information to provide evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 

in  the financial report, and 
− assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies and disclosures used and the 

reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors. 

While we considered the effectiveness of management’s internal controls over financial reporting when 
determining the nature and extent of our procedures, our audit was not designed to provide assurance on 
internal controls. 

Independence 
In conducting our audit, we followed applicable independence requirements of Australian professional 
ethical pronouncements and the Corporations Act 2001. 

We declare to the best of our knowledge and belief that the auditor’s independence declaration of the 
financial report has not changed as at the date of providing our audit opinion. 
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Audit Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial report gives a true and fair view of the financial position of Indigenous Mining 
Services Pty Ltd as at 30 June 2020 and of its financial performance for the year then ended in accordance 
with the accounting policies described in Note 1 to these financial statements.  

Stielow & Associates 

____________________ 
Leon Stielow 
Principal 

Dated this 14th day of October 2020 
Perth, Western Australia 

14 October 2020 

Indigenous Mining Services Pty Ltd (IMS) 
PO Box 2772 
SOUTH HEDLAND   WA 6722 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

Under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 
To the Directors of INDIGENOUS MINING SERVICES PTY LTD (IMS) 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2020 
there has been: 

a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

Stielow & Associates 

____________________ 
Leon Stielow       
Principal 

Dated this 14th day of October 2020 
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